INTRODUCTION

On July 7, 2015, Petitioner and Respondent lived across the street from one another in Fairmont, West Virginia. This civil lawsuit proceeded to trial. At trial, Respondent and Respondent's wife testified that on July 7, 2015, Respondent hit Petitioner in the face with a closed fist whereupon Petitioner stumbled back, clipped his heel on the lip of Petitioner's driveway, fell into his own driveway, and struck the back of his head on the concrete therein. Ultimately the Jury concluded that the Respondent battered Petitioner on July 7, 2015. Petitioner's devastating and permanent injuries are reflected in a photograph taken at the incident scene before law enforcement's arrival and a photograph of the Petitioner while in the Intensive Care Unit at Ruby Memorial Hospital approximately one day after the battery.¹

As a result of hitting the back of his head on the concrete in his driveway, Petitioner suffered a left brain stem hemorrhagic stroke, an intracranial hemorrhage, a subdural hematoma, a subarachnoid hematoma, and a permanent severe traumatic brain injury. As a result of these injuries, Petitioner was hospitalized from July 7, 2015, through July 16, 2015. Thereafter, Petitioner was transferred directly from the hospital to intensive inpatient rehabilitation from July 16, 2015, to August 12, 2015. At trial, medical bills in excess of One Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars (\$180,000.00) were introduced into evidence. During opening statements, Respondent's counsel conceded that Petitioner was injured.² During closing argument, Respondent's counsel conceded that Petitioner was "hurt much more significant than [Respondent] would have ever possibly imagined."³ Although the jury concluded Respondent battered Petitioner on July 7, 2015, the jury awarded Petitioner Zero Dollars (\$0) in damages. Because the Jury failed to award at least

¹ See P.A. 000797 and P.A. 001028.

² P.A. 000134.

³ P.A. 000746.



some damages to Petitioner, the verdict was inadequate and inconsistent and the Circuit Court of Marion County erred in refusing to grant a new trial solely on the issue of damages.



ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Whether the Circuit Court of Marion County erred in denying Petitioner's Motion for a New Trial on damages following a jury finding that Petitioner was battered by Respondent and awarding Petitioner Zero Dollars (\$0) in damages even though Petitioner suffered a permanent severe traumatic brain injury resulting in more than One Hundred and Eighty Thousand Dollars (\$180,000) of medical bills.



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a battery that occurred on July 7, 2015.⁴ On July 6, 2016 Plaintiff/Petitioner Christopher McKenzie filed suit in the Circuit Court of Marion County alleging that Defendant/Respondent Donald L. Sevier committed battery upon Plaintiff/Petitioner.⁵ Defendant/Respondent Mr. Sevier filed a counterclaim against Petitioner for battery and violating W. Va. Code § 55-7-2, otherwise known as the insulting words statute.⁶ After the completion of discovery, a three-day trial commenced in the Circuit Court of Marion County on August 22, 2018. Following the presentation of evidence, the jury unanimously found “by a preponderance of the evidence that Donald Sevier committed Battery against Christopher McKenzie.”⁷ Notwithstanding this finding, the jury awarded \$0.00 in damages despite Petitioner having received a permanent severe traumatic brain injury. Judgment was entered on the verdict on September 27, 2018.⁸ On October 12, 2018, Petitioner timely filed a motion for a new trial on damages.⁹ Following an October 29, 2018 hearing, Circuit Judge Patrick N. Wilson denied the post-trial motion for a new trial on damages by order entered on December 11, 2018.¹⁰ This appeal followed.

July 7, 2015 – The Battery

On July 7, 2015, Petitioner and Respondent live across the street from one another in Fairmont, West Virginia.¹¹ On July 7, 2015, Respondent arrives home from work at approximately 6:30 p.m. to 6:45 p.m.¹² Approximately twenty (20) to thirty (30) minutes after Respondent arrives

⁴ P.A. 000020 – P.A. 000029.

⁵ *Id.*

⁶ P.A. 000041 – P.A. 0000050.

⁷ P.A. 001080.

⁸ P.A. 001074 – P.A. 001085.

⁹ P.A. 001086 – P.A. 001099.

¹⁰ P.A. 001118 – P.A. 001121.

¹¹ P.A. 000171.

¹² P.A. 000166.



home from work, Respondent intentionally hits Petitioner in the face with a closed fist.¹³ After being struck in the face by Respondent, Petitioner landed in his own driveway where Petitioner's head ultimately made contact with the concrete.¹⁴ Notwithstanding Petitioner's obvious injury, Respondent did not call the Fairmont Police until 8:51 p.m. on July 7, 2015.¹⁵

Officer Reed Moran of the Fairmont Police Department was the first law enforcement officer to arrive at the incident scene.¹⁶ When Officer Moran arrived at the incident scene, he observed Petitioner unresponsive lying in a pool of blood in Petitioner's own driveway.¹⁷ Officer Moran performed an assessment of Petitioner and, once EMS arrived, began assisting EMS.¹⁸ Once EMS arrived, Officer Moran observed damage to Petitioner's skull, noting that a portion of Petitioner's skull had buckled.¹⁹ Additionally, upon assisting EMS and cleaning Petitioner's wound, Officer Moran could see a gelatinous material that he believed to be brain matter.²⁰ Petitioner was transported via EMS to Ruby Memorial Hospital (hereinafter "Ruby") in Morgantown, West Virginia.²¹

Sergeant Glenn Staley of the Fairmont Police Department arrived at the incident scene shortly after Officer Moran.²² Sergeant Staley also observed Petitioner in an unresponsive state with what appeared to be brain matter near his head.²³ Sergeant Staley requested Detective Eric Hudson of the Fairmont Police Department come to Petitioner's home after Sergeant Staley took

¹³ *Id.*

¹⁴ P.A. 000801.

¹⁵ P.A. 000782 – P.A. 000796

¹⁶ P.A. 000417.

¹⁷ P.A. 000415.

¹⁸ P.A. 000416 – P.A. 000417.

¹⁹ P.A. 000417.

²⁰ *Id.*

²¹ P.A. 000419.

²² P.A. 000345.

²³ P.A. 000351 – P.A. 000352



written statements from Respondent and Respondent's wife.²⁴ After Detective Hudson arrived, Detective Hudson attempted to obtain a recorded statement from Respondent however Respondent declined to provide any further statements.²⁵

In sum, on July 7, 2015, Respondent intentionally hit Petitioner in the face with a closed fist.²⁶ Respondent agrees that hitting Petitioner is what caused Petitioner to stumble back and trip.²⁷ Respondent acknowledges knowing that Petitioner was hurt and Petitioner was unresponsive.²⁸

Testimony from Petitioner and His Wife

The testimony at trial provided undisputed evidence that Petitioner suffered a permanent severe traumatic brain injury as a result of being battered by Respondent on July 7, 2015. Much of the evidence regarding Petitioner's damages came from Petitioner, his wife Anna McKenzie, and his primary care physician Dr. Kokab Darbandi.

Petitioner testified that he does not recall anything about the incident or that day.²⁹ However, Petitioner understands that on July 7, 2015, he sustained a permanent severe traumatic brain injury.³⁰ Petitioner testified that his permanent severe traumatic brain injury affects his short term memory and long term memory.³¹ Petitioner testified that the first thing he recalled after July 7, 2015, was waking up in either Ruby or HealthSouth MountainView Regional Rehabilitation Hospital (hereinafter "HealthSouth") and being in pain.³² Petitioner testified that since July 7,

²⁴ P.A. 000352.

²⁵ P.A. 000376.

²⁶ P.A. 000163 – P.A. 000165.

²⁷ P.A. 000201.

²⁸ P.A. 000204.

²⁹ P.A. 000525.

³⁰ *Id.*

³¹ *Id.*

³² P.A. 000527 – P.A. 000528.

2015, he is in pain on a daily basis and on a scale of one to ten would rate his daily pain as being “down my neck, probably four, five. My neck is more like a nine.”³³

Petitioner testified about the difficult and painful rehabilitation he received at HealthSouth.³⁴ Petitioner testified that prior to July 7, 2015, he did not have a cane, walker, or wheelchair.³⁵ Petitioner testified that his ability to speak has changed since July 7, 2015.³⁶ Petitioner testified about his balance problems and how he falls approximately twenty to thirty times per year.³⁷ Further, Petitioner testified about having to buy a new home because his wife wanted to get away from Respondent and because his old home across the street from Respondent was a split-level which was difficult for Petitioner to access.³⁸

Petitioner testified about how his life has changed since July 7, 2015, explicitly referencing the fact that Petitioner has not driven a vehicle since July 7, 2015.³⁹ Petitioner testified that he has difficulty tying his shoes and his wife has to hold him while he stands up to tie a tie.⁴⁰ Additionally, Petitioner testified that he has not taken a shower by himself since July 7, 2015, and when he does shower his wife has to help him.⁴¹ Also, Petitioner testified that since July 7, 2015, he hasn't had sex, hasn't been on vacation, and hasn't been to any sporting events.⁴² Further, Petitioner testified that since July 7, 2015, he hasn't been to church.⁴³ Prior to July 7, 2015, Petitioner went to church every Sunday and holy day.⁴⁴ Petitioner testified that he misses playing with his granddaughter,

³³ P.A. 000528.

³⁴ P.A. 000529.

³⁵ P.A. 000529 – P.A. 000530.

³⁶ P.A. 000530.

³⁷ P.A. 000531.

³⁸ P.A. 000537 – P.A. 000538.

³⁹ P.A. 000530.

⁴⁰ P.A. 000532 – P.A. 000533.

⁴¹ P.A. 000534.

⁴² P.A. 000536.

⁴³ P.A. 000537.

⁴⁴ *Id.*



doing chores around the house, and being able to fool around in his shed.⁴⁵ Petitioner testified that because of his permanent severe brain injury, his day primarily consist of waking up in the afternoon, and sitting in a powered recliner in his living room until it's time to go to sleep.⁴⁶

Petitioner's wife, Mrs. Anna McKenzie, testified that after the battery she first saw Petitioner on July 8, 2015, at the Intensive Care Unit (hereinafter "ICU") of Ruby.⁴⁷ When Mrs. McKenzie first saw Petitioner in the ICU of Ruby her knees buckled and someone grabbed her arm and sat her in a chair.⁴⁸ Petitioner's condition while in the ICU of Ruby is best understood by a picture Mrs. McKenzie took of Petitioner in the ICU.⁴⁹ Mrs. McKenzie testified that while in the ICU, Petitioner was in a coma with a neck brace and a breathing tube.⁵⁰ While Petitioner was in the ICU is when Mrs. McKenzie learned that Petitioner had very serious and deep brain bleeds.⁵¹ Eventually, Mrs. McKenzie realized Petitioner would never be the same.⁵² In fact, Mrs. McKenzie learned Petitioner was lucky to survive his injuries.⁵³

Mrs. McKenzie testified about the nature of Petitioner's wound and the staples in Petitioner's head.⁵⁴ Mrs. McKenzie testified that Petitioner did not regain consciousness until July 10, 2015, which corresponds to the day Petitioner was transferred from the ICU to a step down unit at Ruby.⁵⁵ Mrs. McKenzie testified that Petitioner was at Ruby from July 7, 2015, until July 16, 2015, when Petitioner was transferred to HealthSouth.⁵⁶ Mrs. McKenzie testified that from

⁴⁵ P.A. 000538 – P.A. 000539.

⁴⁶ P.A. 000533.

⁴⁷ P.A. 000563.

⁴⁸ *Id.*

⁴⁹ P.A. 001028.

⁵⁰ P.A. 000563.

⁵¹ *Id.*

⁵² P.A. 000566.

⁵³ *Id.*

⁵⁴ P.A. 001030.

⁵⁵ P.A. 000569.

⁵⁶ P.A. 000570.

July 16, 2015, to August 12, 2015, Petitioner was an overnight patient at HealthSouth.⁵⁷ Also, Mrs. McKenzie testified that Petitioner was transported to Ruby, via ambulance, for doctors' appointments while Petitioner was at HealthSouth.⁵⁸ Mrs. McKenzie testified that on August 12, 2015, Petitioner was discharged from HealthSouth and Petitioner began physical, occupational, and speech therapy at HealthPlex.⁵⁹ Mrs. McKenzie also testified that Petitioner participated in physical therapy at Country Roads Physical Therapy.⁶⁰

Mrs. McKenzie testified that since July 7, 2015, she has to assist Petitioner with ninety-five percent of his daily living activities which includes cooking, showering, shaving, dressing, and going to the bathroom.⁶¹ Additionally, Mrs. McKenzie testified that since July 7, 2015, Petitioner has fallen down numerous times, which sometimes cause severe injuries to Petitioner.⁶² Also, Mrs. McKenzie testified that Petitioner's speech has been affected by his permanent severe traumatic brain injury.⁶³ Mrs. McKenzie testified that Petitioner's memory has been affected by his permanent severe traumatic brain injury, so much so that Petitioner often confuses her with his family members.⁶⁴ Lastly, Mrs. McKenzie testified that Petitioner did not use walking devices such as canes and wheelchairs before Respondent battered Petitioner on July 7, 2015.⁶⁵

Expert Testimony

The evidence of Petitioner's injuries were not limited to lay witnesses. The jury heard evidence from Dr. Kokab Darbandi. At trial, Dr. Darbandi was qualified as an expert in internal

⁵⁷ P.A. 000571.

⁵⁸ P.A. 000573 - P.A. 000574.

⁵⁹ P.A. 000575.

⁶⁰ *Id.*

⁶¹ P.A. 000579.

⁶² P.A. 000580. *See also* P.A. 001038 – P.A. 001050.

⁶³ P.A. 000585.

⁶⁴ P.A. 000586.

⁶⁵ P.A. 000585.



medicine.⁶⁶ Dr. Darbandi testified that she is Petitioner's primary care physician and first saw Petitioner on March 13, 2015.⁶⁷ Additionally, Dr. Darbandi explained that she developed a baseline (a basic understanding of Petitioner's medical problems) prior to Petitioner being battered by Respondent.⁶⁸ After Petitioner was battered by Respondent, Dr. Darbandi first evaluated Petitioner on September 4, 2015.⁶⁹ In total, Dr. Darbandi has evaluated Petitioner thirteen (13) times since Petitioner was battered by Respondent.⁷⁰

Dr. Darbandi testified that, as a result of being battered by Respondent, Petitioner was diagnosed with a left brain stem hemorrhagic stroke, an intracranial hemorrhage, a subdural hematoma, and a subarachnoid hematoma.⁷¹ Dr. Darbandi explained that Petitioner's injuries were classified as a permanent severe traumatic brain injury.⁷² After Petitioner received these injuries and was discharged from Ruby on July 16, 2015, medical professionals recommended Petitioner obtain acute rehab in an inpatient setting at HealthSouth.⁷³ Dr. Darbandi testified that Petitioner's referral to HealthSouth for inpatient rehabilitation and the treatment Petitioner received at HealthSouth was medically necessary.⁷⁴

Dr. Darbandi testified that in March of 2016 Petitioner had prostate surgery which was not related to the injuries sustain by Petitioner on July 7, 2015.⁷⁵ However, Dr. Darbandi testified that Petitioner's second stint at HealthSouth from March 17, 2016 to April 2, 2016 for inpatient

⁶⁶ P.A. 000433.

⁶⁷ P.A. 000426.

⁶⁸ *Id.*

⁶⁹ P.A. 000427.

⁷⁰ *Id.*

⁷¹ P.A. 000436.

⁷² P.A. 000441 - P.A. 000442.

⁷³ P.A. 000440.

⁷⁴ P.A. 000440 – P.A. 441.

⁷⁵ P.A. 000446.



rehabilitation, after his prostate surgery, was medically necessary because of the injuries he received on July 7, 2015.⁷⁶

Additionally, Dr. Darbandi testified that the injuries Petitioner received on July 7, 2015, cause Petitioner to suffer numerous neurological deficits.⁷⁷ Dr. Darbandi explained that Petitioner's neurological deficits are foot drop, imbalance, dizziness, right-sided motor weakness, difficulty elevating right leg, disconjugate gaze, slurred speech, worsening memory, double vision, and problems with depth perception.⁷⁸ Moreover, Dr. Darbandi testified that Petitioner's neurological deficits are permanent injuries.⁷⁹

In addition to Petitioner's permanent neurological deficits, Dr. Darbandi explained that Petitioner's injuries affect his ability to perform activities of daily living which include but are not limited to showering, managing finances, and transferring positions (i.e. laying to sitting and sitting to standing).⁸⁰ Also, Dr. Darbandi testified that Petitioner will need future medical care related to the injuries Petitioner sustained on July 7, 2015.⁸¹ Further, Dr. Darbandi testified that it is reasonable to believe that Petitioner is still experiencing some pain.⁸² Lastly, Dr. Darbandi testified to a reasonable degree of medical probability that the medical treatment Petitioner received and the more than \$180,000.00 of medical bills Petitioner incurred as a result of being battered by Respondent were medically necessary.⁸³

As noted above, the jury concluded that Petitioner was battered by Respondent on July 7, 2015. However, notwithstanding the substantial testimony and photographic evidence regarding

⁷⁶ P.A. 000448. *See also* P.A. 000956 – P.A. 000967

⁷⁷ P.A. 000450.

⁷⁸ P.A. 000450 - P.A. 000451.

⁷⁹ P.A. 000453.

⁸⁰ P.A. 000454.

⁸¹ P.A. 000455.

⁸² P.A. 000501.

⁸³ *See generally* P.A. 000443 – P.A. 000449.



Petitioner's permanent injuries, the jury did not award Petitioner any financial compensation.⁸⁴ The jury's verdict is contrary to the clear weight of the testimony which established permanent and serious compensable injuries.

A new trial on damages is warranted in this case.

⁸⁴ P.A. 000938 – P.A. 001019.



SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In determining whether the verdict of a jury is supported by the evidence, every reasonable and legitimate inference, fairly arising from the evidence in favor of the party for whom the verdict was returned, must be considered, and those facts, which the jury might properly find under the evidence, must be assumed as true. On appeal of a damage issue that has been tried by a jury, the allegation of inadequate damages should be viewed by considering the evidence most strongly in favor of the defendant. However, even under this restrictive standard, a new trial on damages is the appropriate resolution where a jury verdict is inadequate because it does not include elements of damage which are specifically proven with undisputed evidence including a substantial amount as compensation for injuries and the consequent pain and suffering.

In this case the clear weight of the evidence presented at trial is that Petitioner was injured and experienced pain and suffering following the battery committed by Respondent on July 7, 2015. Petitioner's injuries were established in uncontroverted evidence from Petitioner, Petitioner's wife, and Dr. Kokab Darbandi, Petitioner's primary care physician. Moreover, Petitioner's serious injuries can be seen in a picture taken at the incident scene before police officers or EMS arrived and in a picture taken by Petitioner's wife while Petitioner was unconscious in the ICU at Ruby.⁸⁵ Despite this testimony and the photos, the jury awarded no compensation for pain and suffering or the more than \$180,000.00 of medical bills incurred by Petitioner following the battery committed by Respondent. This is a prime example of a civil miscarriage of justice justifying a new trial on damages.

⁸⁵ See P.A. 000797 and P.A. 001028.



In denying the motion for a new trial on damages the Circuit Court relied solely on the fact that the case was fairly tried with proper instructions before a jury. In using this argument to distinguish the cases noted above requiring a new trial, the Circuit Court improperly disregarded the evidence of Petitioner's injury, Petitioner's pain and suffering, and Respondent being found liable for the intentional tort of battery.

Furthermore, the cases relied on by the Respondent and the Circuit Court are negligence cases involving disputed factual records unlike the case at bar. Where, like here, evidence of Respondent's intentional tort and Petitioner's injury is uncontroverted, the evidence, even viewed most strongly in favor of Respondent, requires finding that the jury award of zero damages is inadequate and inconsistent.

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