# DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FLECURE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 19-0010

MAY 3 0 2019

### CHARLESTON

CHRISTOPHER MCKENZIE,

Plaintiff,

v.

Civil Action No. 16-C-160

DONALD L. SEVIER and CASSANDRA SEVIER,

Defendants.

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARION COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA HONORABLE PATRICK N. WILSON, JUDGE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES, DONALD L. SEVIER AND CASSANDRA SEVIER

TO: THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

GREGORY H. SCHILLACE WVSB #5597

Counsel for Appellees

SCHILLACE LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 1526

Clarksburg, West Virginia 26302-1526

Telephone: 304-624-1000 Facsimile: 304-624-9100



#

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

## IV. Summary of Argument

The failure by the appellant to object to the verdict of the jury prior to the discharge of the jury waived any claim that the verdict was inconsistent. However, even if the appellant had objected based upon the special interrogatories contained on the verdict form, the verdict of the jury is not inconsistent.

There is substantial evidence to support the verdict of the jury especially as all evidence must be considered most favorable to the appellees; all conflicts in the evidence resolved in favor of the appellees; all facts which the evidence tends to prove must be assumed in favor of the appellees; and, the appellees must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences which may be drawn from the facts proved. Accordingly, the jury was within its authority to determine that the appellant was not entitled to compensatory damages a result of any conduct of the appellee, Donald L. Sevier.

The appellant, who was disabled at the time of the July 7, 2015 incident had many preexisting medical problems including, but not limited to, chronic alcoholism. Further, the appellant had a blood alcohol content in excess of 0.196 at the time of the incident.

The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to award taxable costs to the appellees pursuant to West Virginia Code §59-2-8 and Rule 54(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure as the appellees are the prevailing party. Further, the trial court abused its discretion in requiring the appellees to pay all costs of the jury trial. The appellant in his complaint, as well as, in his answer to the counterclaims demanded a jury, therefore, that demand could not be waived or withdrawn without the consent of the appellees which was not requested nor given.

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in awarding sanctions against the appellees based upon the discovery process in light of the conduct of the appellant including, but not limited to, seeking a default judgment without any legal basis; filing multiple motions for sanctions regarding a privilege log which the appellees already stated did not exist; as well as the trial court permitting the appellant to call unidentified witnesses and present documents not previously disclosed until immediately prior to trial.

## V. Statement Regarding Oral Argument

With respect to the appeal of the appellant regarding the denial of the motion for new trial, pursuant to Rule 19(a), the appellees, Donald L. Sevier and Cassandra Sevier, believe that a memorandum opinion affirming the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia is warranted in this action. The appellant raises no new issues that have not been addressed in various decisions of

this Court including, but not limited to, <u>Evans v. Bluefield</u>

<u>Hospital Company, LLC</u>, 2018 WL 6016028 (W.Va. Sup.Ct. 2018); <u>Toler</u>

<u>v. Hager</u>, 205 W.Va. 468, 519 S.E.2d 166 (1999).

With respect to the appeal of the appellees regarding the \$4,000.00 sanction against the appellees and the refusal to award the appellees costs in accordance with West Virginia Code §59-2-11, the appellees believe, pursuant to Rule 19(a), that a memorandum opinion reversing the trial court is warranted. To the extent that this Court determines that a memorandum opinion is not appropriate, the appellee believes oral argument would be beneficial.

## VI. Points and Authorities

### Federal Cases

224 West Flagger Holdings Inc. v. Terra Nova Insurance Company, Ltd., 2004 WL 5595581 (S.D. Fla. 2004)

### State Cases

Bartles v. Hinkle, 196 W.Va. 381, 472 S.E.2d 827 (1996)

Burdette v. Campbell, 126 W.Va. 591, 30 S.E.2d 713 (1944)

Burgess v. Porterfield, 196 W.Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 113 (1996)

<u>Carper v. Watson</u>, 226 W.Va. 50, 697 S.E.2d 86 (2010)

Combs v. Hahn, 205 W.Va. 102, 516 S.E.2d 506 (1999)

Evans v. Bluefield Hospital Company, LLC, 2018 WL 6016028 (W.Va. Sup.Ct. 2018)

Foster v. Sakhai, 210 W.Va. 716, 559 S.E.2d 53 (2001)

Goldstein v. Peacemaker Properties, LLC, 825 S.E.2d 337 (W.Va. 2019)

<u>Groves v. Compton</u>, 167 W.Va. 873, 280 S.E.2d 708 (1981)

•			
			;

<u>Jackson v. Putnam County Board of Education</u>, 121 W.Va. 170, 653 S.E.2d 632 (2007)

Mack v. Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company, 447 S.2d 32 (La. Ct.App. 1984)

Modular Building Consultants of West Virginia, Inc. v. Poerio, Inc., 235 W.Va. 747, 774 S.E.2d 555 (2015)

Nagy v. Oakley, 172 W.Va. 569, 309 S.E.2d 68 (1983)

Neely v. Belk, Inc., 222 W.Va. 560, 668 S.E.2d 189 (2008)

Nelson v. West Virginia Public Employees Insurance Board, 171 W.Va. 445, 300 S.E.2d 86 (1983)

<u>Pauley v. Gilbert</u>, 206 W.Va. 114, 522 S.E.2d 208 (1999)

Perdomo\_v. Stevens, 197 W.Va. 552, 476 S.E.2d 223 (1996)

<u>Prager v. City of Wheeling</u>, 91 W.Va. 597, 114 S.E. 155 (1992)

Prager v. Meckling, 172 W.Va. 785, 310 S.E.2d 852 (1983)

Sally-Mike Properties v. Yokum, 179 W.Va. 48, 365 SE2d 246 (1986)

<u>Smith v. Gebhardt</u>, 240 W.Va. 426, 813 S.E.2d 79 (2018)

Spencer v. McClure, 217 W.Va. 442, 618 S.E.2d 451 (2005)

<u>State v. Vance</u>, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000)

<u>State ex rel. Meadows v. Stephens</u>, 207 W.Va. 341, 532 S.E.2d 59 (1997)

State Farm Mutual Insurance Company v. Stephens, 188 W.Va. 622, 425 S.E.2d 577 (1992)

<u>Strahin v. Clevenger</u>, 126 W.Va. 175, 603 S.E.2d 197 (2004)

<u>Tagupa v. Vipdesk</u>, 135 Hawaii 468, 353 P.3d 1010 (2015)

Toler v. Hager, 205 W.Va. 468, 519 S.E.2d 166 (1999)

Truman v. F&M Bank, 180 W.Va. 133, 375 S.E.2d 765 (1988)

Tyree v. Bell, 2018 WL 6015840 (W.Va. Sup.Ct. 2018)

#### Statutes and Regulations

West Virginia Code §55-7-2

West Virginia Code §59-2-8

West Virginia Code §59-2-11

#### Rules of Appellate Procedure

West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 19(a)

#### Rules of Civil Procedure

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 38(a)

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 38(d)

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 41(a)(2)

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 54(d)

### VII. <u>Discussion</u>

#### A. Standard of Review

The appellees, Donald L. Sevier and Cassandra Sevier, assert that the standard of review with respect to the denial of the motion for new trial is abuse of discretion with review of the underlying findings of fact by the Circuit Court under the clearly erroneous standard. <a href="State v. Vance">State v. Vance</a>, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000); <a href="Toler v. Hager">Toler v. Hager</a>, 205 W.Va. 468, 519 S.E.2d 166 (1999). Any conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. <a href="Burgess v. Porterfield">Burgess v. Porterfield</a>, 196 W.Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 113 (1996).

The standard of review with respect to the decision by the trial court to not award costs to the appellees as the prevailing parties pursuant to West Virginia Code §59-2-8, the standard of review is whether the trial court abused its discretion. Burdette



<u>v. Campbell</u>, 126 W.Va. 591, 30 S.E.2d 713 (1944). However, the reason must contain specific predicate findings for a decision under Rule 54(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure when the costs are assessed against the prevailing party. <u>Perdomo v. Stevens</u>, 197 W.Va. 552, 476 S.E.2d 223 (1996).

With respect to the imposition of sanctions, the standard of review is also abuse of discretion. <u>Bartles v. Hinkle</u>, 196 W.Va. 381, 472 S.E.2d 827 (1996). However, the trial court must explain its reasons on the record if it decides a sanction is appropriate. <u>Smith v. Gebhardt</u>, 240 W.Va. 426, 813 S.E.2d 79 (2018).

# B. The Appellant is Not Entitled to a New Trial as the Appellant Failed to Object to the Verdict Form Prior to the Discharge of the Jury.

This case was submitted to the jury at approximately 3:30 p.m. on August 24, 2018. Petitioner's Appendix Volume 3 at page 1074. At approximately 4:19 p.m., the jury presented a question to the Court which stated as follows:

#### (1) Definition of Battery:

-Does it mean that an individual crosses the street intentionally to hit & harm another person.

-Does it mean that once in the situation, he reacts and hits another person.

Petitioner's Appendix Volume 3 at page 777.

The trial court responded to the question with the consent of the parties and the jury was instructed that "the law regarding this matter is contained in the Court's instructions that were read

; ;		

to you that you have a copy of, and you have that charge. You've heard those instructions, you've heard the evidence, and that would be the extent of what I can give you." Petitioner's Appendix Volume 3 at page 766.

At approximately 5:35 p.m. the jury announced it had reached a verdict which was represented by the completed verdict form executed by the foreperson of the jury. The verdict form as completed by the jury is as follows:

	<u>Verdict Form</u>	
1. Do y	ou find by a preponderance of the	evidence that
Donald Sevier o	committed Battery against Christophe	r McKenzie?
ANSWE	ER: YES <u>X</u> NO	
2. If yo	ou answered YES to Question 1 indicat	te the amount of
compensatory da	mages, if any, that Christopher McKer	nzie is entitled
to in compensat	cory damages as a result of the Batt	ery:
(a)	Past medical and hospital expenses	\$
(b)	Past loss of enjoyment of life, physical pain and suffering, mental anguish, aggravation, and emotional distress	\$
(c)	Future loss of enjoyment of life, physical pain and suffering, mental anguish, aggravation, and emotional distress	\$
	Total Compensatory Damages	\$0-

•			
			1

3. If you answered YES to Question 1 do you find by a
preponderance of the evidence that Donald Sevier and Cassandra
Sevier together committed Civil Conspiracy?
ANSWER: YESNO_X_
4. If you answered YES to Question 3 indicate what amount of
compensatory damages, if any, that Christopher McKenzie is entitled
to in compensatory damages as a result of the Civil Conspiracy
excluding any damages awarded in Question 2, if any: $\mathbf{N/A}$
Compensatory Damages \$
5. If you answered YES to either Question 1 OR Question 3
AND awarded Christopher McKenzie Compensatory Damages in either
Question 2 OR Question 4, do you find by clear and convincing
evidence that Donald Sevier acted with actual malice toward
Christopher McKenzie?
ANSWER: YESNO_X
6. Do you find by clear and convincing evidence that Donald
Sevier acted with conscious, reckless and outrageous indifference
to the health, safety and welfare of others?
ANSWER: YESNO_X
7. If you answered YES to Question 5 OR 6 indicate what
amount, if any, that Christopher McKenzie is entitled to, in
punitive damages: N/A
ANSWER: YESNO
Page 17 of 30

8. If you answered YES to either Question 1 OR Question 3
AND awarded Christopher McKenzie Compensatory Damages in either
Question 2 OR Question 4, do you find by clear and convincing
evidence that Cassandra Sevier acted with actual malice toward
Christopher McKenzie? N/A
ANSWER: YESNO
9. Do you find by clear and convincing evidence that
Cassandra Sevier acted with conscious, reckless and outrageous
indifference to the health, safety and welfare of others?
ANSWER: YESNOX
10. If you answered YES to Question 8 OR 9 indicate what
amount, if any, that Christopher McKenzie is entitled to, in
punitive damages: N/A
Punitive Damages \$
11. Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that
Christopher McKenzie committed Battery against Donald Sevier?
ANSWER: YESNOX
12. If you answered YES to Question 11 indicate the amount of
12. If you answered YES to Question 11 indicate the amount of

13. Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that
Christopher McKenzie used insulting words in harm of Donald Sevier:
Answer: yes no <b>x</b>
14. If you answered YES to Question 13 indicate what amount
of compensatory damages, if any, that Donald Sevier is entitled to
in compensatory damages as a result of the use of insulting Words:
N/A
Compensatory Damages \$
15. Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that
Christopher McKenzie used insulting words in harm of Cassandra
Sevier:
ANSWER: YES X NO
16. If you answered YES to Question 15 indicate what amount
of compensatory damages, if any, that Cassandra Sevier is entitled
to in compensatory damages as a result of the use of Insulting
Words:
Compensatory Damages \$ -0-
17. If you answered YES to either Question 11, Question 13 or
Question 15 AND awarded Donald Sevier and/or Cassandra Sevier
Compensatory Damages in Question 12, Question 14, or Question 16 do
you find by clear and convincing evidence that Christopher McKenzie
acted with actual malice toward Donald Sevier?
ANSWER: YESNOX

18. Do you find by clear and convincing evidence that Christopher McKenzie acted with conscious, reckless and outrageous indifference to the health, safety and welfare of others?

ANSWER:	YES	 NO	X	

#### (NOT CONSCIOUS)

19. If you answered YES to Question 17 OR 18 indicate what amount, if any, that Donald Sevier is entitled to, in punitive damages: N/A

8/24/18	/s/James Keith Foster

Date Foreperson

Punitive Damages

Petitioner's Appendix Volume 3 at page 1080.

Question 1 contained on the verdict form was provided by the appellant. Appellees Appendix at page 01056. The verdict form as completed by the jury was not objected to by the appellant nor did the appellant seek to have the jury polled. Petitioner's Appendix Volume 2 at page 772.

Any claims regarding the inconsistency of a verdict are waived if there is no objection to any defect or irregularity made prior to the dismissal of the jury. Combs v. Hahn, 205 W.Va. 102, 516 S.E.2d 506 (1999). To determine if a jury verdict is inconsistent, such inconsistency must appear after excluding every reasonable conclusion that would authorize the verdict. Prager v. City of Wheeling, 91 W.Va. 597, 114 S.E. 155 (1992).

	, , ,
	; ; ;
	1 1 1
	i i i
	1 1 1
	1

An examination of the verdict form indicates that there is no inconsistency based upon the special interrogatories and the conflicting testimony and evidence presented to the jury. Modular Building Consultants of West Virginia, Inc. v. Poerio, Inc., 235 W.Va. 747, 774 S.E.2d 555 (2015). The appellant did not submit nor request that a special interrogatory be included in the verdict form that asked the jury to identify whether any wrongful conduct of the appellee, Donald L. Sevier, was the proximate cause of injury and damage to the appellant.

In <u>Tyree v. Bell</u>, 2018 WL 6015840 (W.Va. Sup.Ct. 2018), this Court discussed the verdict form utilized and stated as follows:

The verdict form posed the following question:

"Do you find by a preponderance of evidence, more likely than not, that the plaintiff, Pamela Bell, was injured as a result of Connor Tyree's actions?"

The jury in <u>Tyree</u> was asked on the verdict form if Ms. Bell was injured as a result of the actions of Mr. Tyree, to which the jury said no.

In this action, the appellant did not request the inclusion on the verdict form of a question regarding whether any actions of the appellee, Donald L. Sevier, caused injuries to the appellant. Petitioner's Appendix Volume 3 at page 1074. There was substantial conflicting evidence including the admitted blood alcohol content of the appellant of 0.196; the appellant's claim of no recollection of the incident; the appellant's preexisting medical conditions

including, but not limited to, alcoholism; as well as, the falls and other mishaps appellant suffered following the subject incident as a consequence of his refusal to accept treatment and/or assistive devices. Petitioner's Appendix Volume 2 at pages 480-484.

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